


















Phase II EvaLuation: SR I-Smyrna to Pine Tree Comers 

The schoolhouse built for S.D. 69 in the 1880s was photographed in 1912, with the teacher (Miss 
Minnie Rothwell) and 28 students in front of the building (Figure 6-6; Pryor 1975: 47-48). The ca. 
1886 school building was moved in the I 920s to make room for the widening of the main road (State 
Route 13). The final location for the third known schoolhouse was on Salem Church Road, in the 
heart of the Village of Blackbird, on land donated by William Fortner (Pryor 1975: 49). The 
building was used as a schoolhouse until 1949, after which the building and grounds were donated to 
the Blackbird Community Center by Mrs. William Fortner (Pryor 1975: 49). This building was 
documented in the 1980s as part of the National Register of Historic Places nomination of the Village 
of Blackbird Historic District (Figure 6-7; Benenson 1986: 117). The building was a one and one­
half story, one-room schoolhouse of frame construction and clad with German wood siding 
(probably re-sided). The building was front-gabled with a one-story v~stibule, and rear and side 
additions. The additions and an exterior brick chimney had been added after 1912 (compare Figures 
6-6 and 6-7). The building was apparently misidentified as dating to the 1840s, perhaps because of 
the map evidence described above. 

Figure 6-6. 1912 Photograph of Schoolhouse 69 (Pryor 1975: 47) 

S.D. No. 65, Pine Tree Corners. The earliest cartographic evidence for a school near Pine Tree 
Corners appears in 1868 (Beers 1868), which places the schoolhouse immediately north of the 
town, slightly closer to Pine Tree Corners than Fieldsboro to the north, and designates this area 
as [School] Dist. 65 (Figure 6-1). It is possible, if not likely, that this schoolhouse served as a 
replacement for schoolhouse 65, illustrated in Rea and Price's (1849) map just south and west of 
Fieldsboro. The schoolhouse location of 1868 remains consistent through 1881; no indication of 
a school is present on the 1931 USGS quadrangle. 

The schoolhouse depicted in the 1868 and 1881 maps is located in close proximity to a church. 
This church appears in all maps from 1849 through the present and has been variously 
designated as, "African Ch" (1849), "M. E. Ch" (Beers 1868; Hopkins 1881), and Lees Chapel 
(1993). The 1931 USGS map provides only a generic church symbol. 
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continued until 1909. During their respective periods of operation, the Delaware Association 
and the African School Society received numerous petitions for assistance and established 
several schools throughout the state (Skelcher 1995:44). 

The Delaware Association received the authority to collect taxes and appoint teachers when the 
state legislature passed, "An Act to Tax Colored Persons for the Support of their Own Schools" 
(Skelcher 1995: 75). The number of Delaware Association Schools doubled between 1875 and 
1879. In 1897, Delaware ratified a new State Constitution. The new constitution addressed the 
issue of African American education. Whereas there had been efforts to integrate the 
educational system, the new constitution adopted the 'separate but equal' position (Skelcher 
1995: 79). The legislation formally established institutionalized segregation within the State of 
Delaware. 

By the late 191Os, the educational system in Delaware was deteriorating, especially for African 
Americans. Among the 'Southern' or former 'slaveholding' states, Delaware was the closest to 
providing equal funding to African American schools. African American schools received 
approximately 75% that of their white counterparts (Skelcher 1995:93). However, the State was 
ranked only thirty-ninth in the nation for its contributions towards education, according to a 1917 
report by the United States Bureau of Education. In 1917, Pierre S. DuPont, chair of General 
Motors Corporation and president of E.!. duPont de Nemours & Co., became the state's leading 
advocate for the renovation Delaware's school system. Dupont spearheaded the formation of the 
Service Citizens of Delaware. The Service Citizens of Delaware reflected a growing demand for 
educational reform in the United States after the First World War when Army records indicate a 
literacy rate of only 24.9% (Skelcher 1995:96). 

The Service Citizens of Delaware pressed the Delaware General Assembly to pass the New 
School Code, which it did in 1919. The new code provided for the equal distribution of state 
taxes to white and African American schools. The white community voiced strong opposition 
against the use of tax money towards African American education. DuPont, as Vice President of 
the State Educational Board, tasked Columbia University researchers George D. Strayer, N.L. 
Engelhardt, and F.W. Hart to assess all school buildings in the state (Skelcher 1995:99). The 
assessment consisted of rating the schools' physical conditions on a scale of 1000. Within 
Delaware, only eight schools scored 500 and 35 scored 400; all remaining schools rated lower. 
African American schools fared the worst. DuPont established the Delaware Auxiliary 
Association within the Service Citizens of Delaware with the primary goal of the construction of 
new schools. DuPont started a trust fund, which swelled to $2.5 million; most was set aside for 
the construction of African American schools. 

Among the schools established in the post-Civil War period was the "Lee's Chapel School". 
This school appears on the list of Delaware Association schools for January 1875 and January 
1879 (Skelcher 1995:237-9); the school disappears from the January 1887 account. Cartographic 
evidence places construction of the schoolhouse near Lee's Chapel some time prior to 1868. The 
proximity to a Methodist Episcopal Church (previously noted as an "African Ch" [Rea & Price 
1849]), and absence of the school in the Antebellum map, suggests this school is the same "Lee's 
Chapel School" recorded in the Delaware Association records. 
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Maggie Williams taught at the Lee's Chapel School in 1875. The Beers Atlas (1868) indicates a 
"D. Williams" as owning land north west of Townsend and an "N. Williams" as owner of a 
parcel on the eastern bank of Noxontown Pond, n011hwest of Fieldsboro. The Hopkins Map 
(1881) also documents Williams properties in the same locations as noted earlier; in addition, 
"D. Williams" acquired a plot west of Pine Tree Corners, a short di-stance from Lee's Chapel 
School. It is quite possible that "D. Williams" is a relation of the teacher Maggie Williams. 
Mary E. Duckery is listed as the teacher of Lee's Chapel School in 1879. No landowners with 
this family name are documented in either the 1868 or 1881 maps. 

Likely the result of the Columbia University study and corresponding construction of new 
African American school, several schools were proposed for consolidation. The 
recommendation proposed consolidating Lee's Chapel and Townsend. The New Castle Board of 
Education's Photograph collection, housed at the Delaware Public Archives, contains a 
photograph of "Lees Chapel Colored School, Old Building" (Delaware Public Archives n.d.a) 
(Figure 6-8), and another entitled "Lee's Chapel Colored School" (Delaware Public Archives 
n.d.b). It is likely that at some point between 1881 and 1919, use of the original structure ceased 
and another building housed the Lee's Chapel School. It is probable that the second Lee's 
Chapel School consolidated into the Townsend School by 1919. This would account for the 
archives' photographic record of two separate Lee's Chapel Schools as well as its disappearance 
from the ca110graphic record between 1881 and 1930. Skelcher (1995: 199) lists the Lee's 
Chapel School as not extant and its condition as "Missing". 

Figure 6-8. Picture of Structure Described as "Lee's Chapel School, Old Building" 
(Delaware Public Archives n.d.a) 

S.D. No. 81, Townsend. The advent of the Delaware Railroad through Townsend resulted in a 
commercial, and corresponding demographic, boom. The increase in population mandated 
expansion of social institutions and by 1868, a schoolhouse was constructed (Beers 1868). The 
school was located north west of the Townsend crossroads (Figure 6-1). No school is indicated 
in this location in 1881 (Hopkins 1881). New to the 1881 map is a Methodist Episcopal Church. 
The location of this church places it in very close proximity to the previously identified 
schoolhouse; an unlabeled structure appears northeast of the church, corresponding the 1868 
school location. Structures appear on the 1931 USGS topographic map, however neither a 
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school symbol nor a church symbol are clearly visible. The schoolhouse labeled on the 1868 
Beers Atlas is the only direct cartographic reference to a schoolhouse in the Townsend vicinity. 

Given the connection between the Methodist Episcopal Church and African American education, 
it is probable that the schoolhouse depicted in 1868 and the structure behind the M.E. Church in 
1881 represent an African American School. The Delaware Association for the Moral 
Improvement and Education of Colored People lists "Townsend" as one of its schools in 1879 
and 1887; it is not listed as a Delaware Association School in 1875 (Skelcher 1995: 237-9). An 
African American school is recorded in Townsend at least as late as 1941 (Skelcher 1995: 159, 
173). The New Castle Board of Education possesses a photograph of "Townsend School 
#81"(Figure 6-9) taken in 1925 (Delaware Public Archives n.d.c). Although the school's name 
corresponds to that from Beers Atlas (1868), it is uncertain whether this school is the African 
American School. Skelcher (1995: 199) indicates the location of the Townsend School as 
"Unknown". 

Figure 6-9. "Townsend School #81" (Delaware Public Archives n.d.c) 

Ratledge Road. The 1931 USGS Smyrna Quadrangle indicates a schoolhouse located on the 
eastern side of SR71, immediately south of the SR71IRatiedge Road intersection (Figure 6-1). 
This school does not appear on any previous map. Neither Hopkins' (1881) nor Rea and Price 
(1849) depict structures in that area. One residential property, owned by A. Clements, is 
recorded in this vicinity on the Beers Atlas (1868) however, given its absence on a later map, it is 
unlikely that the school noted in the 1931 USGS map utilized A. Clements' structure. 

S.D. 70, Green Spring School. Rea and Price (1849) depict "S.[chool] H. rouse] 70 north of the 
New Castle/Kent County line, between the Pawpaw and Massey (a.k.a. Green Spring Run) 
Branches of Providence Creek (Figure 6-1). By 1868, a schoolhouse remains in the vicinity 
(Beers 1986). The school district witnessed growth between 1849 and 1868 likely due to the 
advent of the railroad, which passed immediately to the east of the school building, and 
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